
1 
 

Committee Administrator: Angie Howell 
Tel:  01884 234251 

Email: ahowell@middevon.gov.uk 
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk 

 
 
 

 
Licensing Committee 

 
Friday, 5 December 2025 at 10.30 am 

Phoenix Chambers, Phoenix House, Tiverton 
 

 
Please Note: This meeting will take place at Phoenix House and members of 
the public and press are able to attend via Teams. If you are intending to attend 
in person please contact the committee clerk in advance, in order that numbers 
of people can be appropriately managed in physical meeting rooms.  
 
The meeting will be hybrid and an audio recording made and published on 
the website after the meeting.  
 
Join the meeting now  
 
Meeting ID: 379 956 806 449  
Passcode: Vo3ty6ny  
 

 
Membership 
 
Cllr J Cairney  
Cllr A Cuddy  
Cllr D Broom  
Cllr J Buczkowski  
Cllr L J Cruwys  
Cllr F J Colthorpe  
Cllr J M Downes  
Cllr G Duchesne  
Cllr M Jenkins  
Cllr S Keable Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic 

Regeneration 
Cllr L G J Kennedy  
Cllr J Lock  

 
A G E N D A 
 
Members are reminded of the need to make declarations of interest prior to any 
discussion which may take place 
 
1   APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS   

To receive any apologies for absence and notices of appointment of 
Substitute Members (if any). 

Public Document Pack

http://www.middevon.gov.uk/
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/ap/t-59584e83/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fteams.microsoft.com%2Fl%2Fmeetup-join%2F19%253ameeting_ZTBlMGI2NTYtOGJmZS00MzM5LWE0MTAtZjAwYmQ4NGM3Y2M5%2540thread.v2%2F0%3Fcontext%3D%257b%2522Tid%2522%253a%25228ddf22c7-b00e-4429-82f6-108505d03118%2522%252c%2522Oid%2522%253a%2522b2c631b7-dc59-44f1-924e-be2694383484%2522%257d&data=05%7C02%7Cahowell%40middevon.gov.uk%7C854e839b6fbf46cb2a9208dd210a5ab6%7C8ddf22c7b00e442982f6108505d03118%7C0%7C0%7C638703050526711783%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=sa4dCJ7M40c%2B3%2BFYnYOV35SlXwMN5CP1KsCRPYa%2FQ1A%3D&reserved=0


2 
 

Committee Administrator: Angie Howell 
Tel:  01884 234251 

Email: ahowell@middevon.gov.uk 
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk 

 
2   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME   

To receive any questions from members of the public and replies 
thereto. 
 

3   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT   
To record any interests on agenda matters. 
 

4   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  (Pages 5 - 8) 
To consider whether to approve the minutes as a correct record of the 
meeting held on 27 June 2025. 
 

5   LICENSING UPDATE REPORT  (Pages 9 - 20) 
To provide the Committee with an update on Licensing Act 2003 activity 
undertaken by the Licensing Team during first half of 2025/26.  
 
To provide an overview of legislative and guidance changes and make 
recommendations where these have an impact on service delivery.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Stephen Walford 
Chief Executive 

Thursday, 27 November 2025 
 

 

http://www.middevon.gov.uk/


3 
 

Committee Administrator: Angie Howell 
Tel:  01884 234251 

Email: ahowell@middevon.gov.uk 
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk 

 
Guidance notes for meetings of Mid Devon District Council  
 
From 7 May 2021, the law requires all councils to hold formal meetings in 
person. The Council will enable all people to continue to participate in meetings 
via Teams. 
If the Council experience technology difficulties at a committee meeting the 
Chairman may make the decision to continue the meeting ‘in-person’ only to 
conclude the business on the agenda. 
 
 
1. Inspection of Papers 
Any person wishing to inspect minutes, reports, or the background papers for 
any item on the agenda should contact Democratic Services at 
Committee@middevon.gov.uk 
 
They can also be accessed via the council's website Click Here  
 
Printed agendas can also be viewed in reception at the Council offices at 
Phoenix House, Phoenix Lane, Tiverton, EX16 6PP. 
 
2. Members’ Code of Conduct requirements 
When considering the declaration of interests and their actions as a councillor, 
Members are reminded of the requirements of the Members’ Code of Conduct 
and the underpinning Principles of Public Life: Honesty; Integrity; Selflessness; 
Objectivity; Accountability; Openness; Leadership.  
The Code of Conduct can be viewed here:  
 
3. Minutes of the Meeting 
Details of the issues discussed, and recommendations made at the meeting will 
be set out in the minutes, which the Committee will be asked to approve as a 
correct record at its next meeting. Minutes of meetings are not verbatim.   
 
4. Public Question Time  
Residents, electors or business rate payers of the District wishing to raise a 
question and/or statement under public question time are asked to provide their 
written questions to the Democratic Services team by 5pm three clear working 
days before the meeting to ensure that a response can be provided at the 
meeting. You will be invited to ask your question and or statement at the 
meeting and will receive the answer prior to, or as part of, the debate on that 
item. Alternatively, if you are content to receive an answer after the item has 
been debated, you can register to speak by emailing your full name to 
Committee@middevon.gov.uk by no later than 4pm on the day before the 
meeting.  You will be invited to speak at the meeting and will receive a written 
response within 10 clear working days following the meeting. 
Notification in this way will ensure the meeting runs as smoothly as possible  
 
5. Meeting Etiquette for participants 
• Only speak when invited to do so by the Chair. 
• If you’re referring to a specific page, mention the page number. 

http://www.middevon.gov.uk/
mailto:Committee@middevon.gov.uk
https://democracy.middevon.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=
https://democracy.middevon.gov.uk/documents/s30898/CODEOFCONDUCTFORCOUNCILLORS.docx.pdf
mailto:Committee@middevon.gov.uk


4 
 

Committee Administrator: Angie Howell 
Tel:  01884 234251 

Email: ahowell@middevon.gov.uk 
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk 

 
For those joining the meeting virtually: 
• Mute your microphone when you are not talking. 
• Switch off your camera if you are not speaking. 
• Speak clearly (if you are not using camera then please state your name) 
• Switch off your camera and microphone after you have spoken. 
• There is a facility in Microsoft Teams under the ellipsis button called “turn on 
live captions” which provides subtitles on the screen. 
 
6. Exclusion of Press & Public 
When considering an item on the agenda, the Committee may consider it 
appropriate to pass a resolution under Section 100A (4) Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972 that the press and public be excluded from the 
meeting on the basis that if they were present during the business to be 
transacted there would be a likelihood of disclosure of exempt information, as 
defined under the terms of the Act. If there are members of the public and press 
listening to the open part of the  
meeting, then the Democratic Services Officer will, at the appropriate time, ask 
participants to leave the meeting when any exempt or confidential information is 
about to be discussed. They will be invited to return as soon as the meeting 
returns to open session. 
 
7. Recording of meetings 
All media, including radio and TV journalists, and members of the public may 
attend Council, Cabinet, PDG and Committee meetings (apart from items Media 
and Social Media Policy - 2023 page 22 where the public is excluded) you can 
view our Media and Social Media Policy here. They may record, film or use 
social media before, during or after the meeting, so long as this does not 
distract from or interfere unduly with the smooth running of the meeting. Anyone 
proposing to film during the meeting is requested to make this known to the 
Chairman in advance. The Council also makes audio recordings of meetings 
which are published on our website Browse Meetings, 2024 - 
MIDDEVON.GOV.UK.  
 
8. Fire Drill Procedure 
If you hear the fire alarm you should leave the building by the marked fire exits, 
follow the direction signs and assemble at the master point outside the 
entrance. Do not use the lifts or the main staircase. You must wait there until 
directed otherwise by a senior officer. If anybody present is likely to need 
assistance in exiting the building in the event of an emergency, please ensure 
you have let a member of Democratic Services know before the meeting begins 
and arrangements will be made should an emergency occur.  
 
9. WIFI 
An open, publicly available Wi-Fi network is normally available for meetings 
held in the Phoenix Chambers at Phoenix House. 

http://www.middevon.gov.uk/
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/355593/media-and-social-media-policy-2023-1311.pdf
https://democracy.middevon.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.middevon.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1


 

Licensing Committee – 27 June 2025 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
MINUTES of a MEETING of the LICENSING COMMITTEE held on 27 June 2025 at 
10.30 am 
 
Present   
Councillors: J Cairney (Chair) 

J Buczkowski, A Cuddy (Vice-Chair), 
D Broom, F J Colthorpe, J M Downes, 
G Duchesne, S Keable and L G J Kennedy 
 

Apologies  
Councillors: 
 

L J Cruwys, M Jenkins and J Lock 
 

Also Present Cllr G Czapiewski 
Councillor:   

 
 
Also Present 

 

Officers:  Deborah Sharpley (Legal Services Manager), Harriet Said 
(Team Leader (Commercial), Public Health), Thomas 
Keating (Specialist Lead (Licensing) Officer) and Angie 
Howell (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

  
  
 

1 ELECTION OF CHAIR (00:03:00)  
 
The Chair of the Council invited nominations for the election of a Chair for the 
municipal year 2025/2026. 
 
 
RESOLVED that Cllr J Cairney be elected as Chair of the Licensing Committee for 
the municipal year 2025/2026. 
 

2 ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR (00:06:24)  
 
The Chair of the Licensing Committee invited nominations for the election of a Vice-
Chair for the municipal year 2025/2026 
 
 
RESOLVED that Cllr A Cuddy be elected as Vice Chair of the Licencing Committee 
for the municipal year 2025/2026. 
 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 

Licensing Committee – 27 June 2025 2 

3 START TIME OF MEETINGS (00:08:01)  
 
It was AGREED that the start time of meetings for the remainder of the municipal 
year continued to be at 10.30am. 
 
 

4 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (00:08:27)  
 
Apologies were received from Cllr L Cruwys, Cllr M Jenkins and Cllr J Lock. 
 
 

5 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT (00:08:54)  
 
There were no declarations of interest received. 
 
 

6 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME (00:09:09)  
 
There were no members of the public present and no questions were asked. 
 
 

7 MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING (00:09:30)  
 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on the 2 October 2024 were agreed as a 
true record and SIGNED by the Chair. 
 

8 LICENSING UPDATE REPORT (00:10:06)  
 
The Committee had before it and NOTED a report * from the Team Leader, 
(Commercial), Public Health of the Licensing Act Policy Review. 
 
The following was highlighted within the report: 
 

 The contextual data contained within the report presented the number and 
types of licenced premises within the District. 

 The Licensing Team dealt regularly with existing licensed premises in relation 
to amendments, variations and transfers. 

 A large number of Temporary Event Notices (TEN) were issued and those 
continued to increase over the years. 

 Temporary Event Notices were shared with the Police and the Environmental 
Health Team and they were the only two entities able to raise concerns.  If 
concerns were raised then the TEN would be considered by a Licensing Sub-
Committee. 

 The Safety Advisory Group (SAG), which was co-ordinated by the Council and 
made up of representatives from the Licensing Team, Public Health, 
Emergency Services, Highways and various other organisations.  The role of 
the Group was to advise and give guidance to event organisers regarding 
safety, risk and controlled measures.  The Group did not have legal powers. 

 A total of 24 event organisers attended SAG meetings where licensing related 
matters would have been raised and advised upon. 
 

Page 6



 

Licensing Committee – 27 June 2025 3 

 The Licensing Team had attended several site visits to conduct inspections. 
One of which had been a visit to Shobrooke Park which had been a joint 
inspection with Devon and Cornwall Police and Devon and Somerset Fire and 
Rescue Service. 

 A site visit had also taken place at the Mid Devon Show Ground to consider 
licensable activities as well as a wider public health remit. 

 Due to staffing pressures there had been a decrease in the number of 
licenced premises inspections undertaken. There was currently a Licensing 
Officer vacancy however this was being covered by an agency individual due 
to being unable to recruit directly.  

 The structure of the team was currently being reviewed to ensure future 
capacity and resilience.  In the meantime any complaints received were being 
prioritised accordingly. 

 There had been a total of 4 Licensing Sub-Committee Hearings which had 
taken place in 2024/2025. 

 Martyn’s Law received Royal Assent on 3 April 2025.  The Act was intended to 
strengthen security and protect people from terrorist events. 

 Qualifying premises would need to take some form of action depending on 
their size and venue capacity for which there was a tiered approach. 

 The implementation and enforcement of the legislation would sit with the 
Security Industry Authority (SIA). 

 The new legislation expected regarding tobacco and vapes to help towards 
committing to a smoke free generation by the Government. 

 
 
 
Discussion took place regarding:- 
 

 The Safety Advisory Group and the responsibility of event organisers. 

 The benefits of attending a site visit when a Licensing Sub-Committee 
considered a Licenced Premises Application. 

 The process for applying for a Temporary Event Notice. 

 Clarification that when Committee Members left the room or made a drink 
during an agenda item that they would need to abstain from voting on that 
agenda item only.  
 

 
Note: * Report previously circulated. 
 
 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 11:11am) CHAIR 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

Report for: Licensing Committee 

 

Date of Meeting: 05 December 2025 

 
Subject: LICENSING UPDATE REPORT 

 
Cabinet Member:  Cllr David Wulff, Cabinet Member for Quality of 

Living, Equalities and Public Health 
 

Responsible Officer: Simon Newcombe, Head of Housing and Health  
 

Exempt: No  
 

Wards Affected: All wards 
 
Enclosures: 

 
None  
 
 

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 

To provide the Committee with an update on Licensing Act 2003 activity undertaken 

by the Licensing Team during first half of 2025/26.  

To provide an overview of legislative and guidance changes and make 

recommendations where these have an impact on service delivery.  

 

Recommendation:  

1. That the Licensing Committee notes the report. 

 

Section 2 – Report 

1  Introduction 

1.1 This report provides an overview of the activity carried out by the Licensing 

Team during the first half of 2025/26, in respect of the following: regulated 

entertainment, late night refreshment, gambling and all aspects of alcohol 

licensing as covered by the Licensing Act 2003. Where relevant, the report also 

provide updates on matters relating to the Gambling Act 2005. 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



1.2 It also provides an overview of changes to legislation and guidance affecting 

the delivery of the Licensing service, and detail of service delivery constraints.  

 
2 Service Delivery  

 Contextual data  

2.1  The Licensing Team is responsible for issuing a range of premises licences and 

personal licences under the Licensing Act 2003, this is broken down as below  

Type of Licence  Total active  
Issued between 

1/4/25 and 30/09/25 
Surrendered or 

suspended in period 

Personal Licence  1479 31 0 

Premises with 
alcohol 

315 
9 new, 3 minor, 3 

Variation 
3 surrender, 0 

suspended 

Premises with no 
alcohol 

64 0 0 

Club premises with 
alcohol 

32 0 2 

 

2.2  Figure 1 below shows the comparison between end of 2024/25 and end of 

quarter 2 2025/26. 

 

 

2.3 Mid Devon currently has 411 premises licensed under the Licensing Act 2003.  

2.4  A Temporary Event Notice (TEN) is a notification given by an individual to the 

Licensing Authority where it is proposed to use a premises for one or more 

licensable activities during a period not exceeding 168 hours. They can be used 

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400 1600

Personal Licence

Premises With alcohol

Premises with no alcohol

Club premises with alcohol

Comapring total licence numbers over time

Total active at 30th September 2025 Total active at 31st March 2025

Page 10



to authorise relatively small-scale ad hoc events held in or on any premises 

involving no more than 499 people at any one time.  

2.4  The number of Temporary Event Notices (TEN) issued within 2025/26:   

Temporary Event Notices  Standard TEN  Late TEN  

With alcohol  209 34 

No alcohol              12 1 

 

2.5 Figure 2 below shows the number of TENS processed in the first half of 

 2024/2025 compared to the same period of 2025/26.  

 

 

2.6 Three pavement Licenses were issued during the first half of 2025/26. These 

 licences permit the placement of removable furniture on a pavement in 

 connection with an establishment where food and drink is sold for consumption 

 on or off the premises.  

2.7  Mid Devon has the following licences under the Gambling Act 2005: 

Type of permit/ licence  
Number active within 

District  

Adult Gaming centres 2 

Betting premises 3 

Gaming machine permit 2 

Club gaming permit 2 

Club machine permit 2 

Licensed premises gaming permit 5 

Gambling machine notifications 75 

Small society lotteries 74 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

Standard TEN with
alcohol

Late TEN Standard TEN no
alcohol

Late TEN no alcohol

TENS processed

2024/2025 qrt 1&2 2025/2026 qrt 1&2

Page 11



2.9 Overall, the number of licensed activities, premises and notifications for the first 

 half of 2025/26 remains broadly consistent with the same period for 2024/25. 

2.10 Changes to the way that we process small society lotteries are planned for the 

 next quarter. This will see the number of registrations issued reduced, as we 

 will move to an indefinite registration with an annual renewal. This will make the 

 process more efficient and enable us to comply with the requirement to provide 

 up to date and accurate register of small society lottery registrations with the 

 Gambling commission. Annual registrations were introduced during COVID-19, 

but we no longer need to process them in that way.  

  
Licensing at events and Safety Advisory Group (SAG) 

2.11 Licensing Officers sit on the SAG for Mid Devon and 12 event organisers 

 attended a SAG meeting during the first half of 2025/26 where licensing related 

 matters have been raised/advised on if relevant.  

2.12 The SAG is co-ordinated by the Council and made up of representatives from 

 relevant services including the Licensing team and Public Health plus 

emergency services, other relevant bodies, and the event organiser. 

2.13 As noted in previous update reports, SAGs provide a forum for discussing and 

 advising on public safety at an event. They aim to help organisers with the 

 planning and management of an event, and to encourage cooperation and 

 coordination between all relevant agencies. 

2.14 Discussions may extend beyond an organiser's duty to comply with workplace 

 health and safety law and even the boundaries of an event site, to include 

 considering the impact on the local transport network and civil contingencies in 

 the event of an emergency. The advice provided by the SAG and any decisions 

 taken are proportionate to the risk profile of the event. 

2.15 The guiding principle is that events presenting a significant potential public 

 safety risk (whether in terms of numbers and profile of people attending, or the 

 nature of the event activity and/or the challenge of the environment) are 

 considered by the SAG. 

2.16 A regional SAG chairs forum has been established by Devon and Cornwall 

 Police Contingencies and Event Planning lead. The objective being to share 

 relevant information, knowledge and experience and promote consistency 

 across the region for event organisers attending SAGs.  

2.17 A site visit was carried out to Shobrooke Park by Licensing, Legal Services and 

 the Licencing Sub-Committee following an application for a site licence for 

 events to take place at the site, more detail in section 3.3.  

  
Inspections  

2.18 Licensing Officers have conducted 65 licensed premises visits with the purpose 

of determining if the premises are compliant with licence conditions. An 

Page 12



inspection may be initiated because of a complaint, or by using a risk rating that 

is applied to premises to identify those that are a priority for inspection. Visits 

are often carried out with other service areas, such as Environmental Health, 

or external partners such as Police and Highways.   

2.19 This is a significant uplift on the number of inspections completed in the same 

period in 2024/25. 

 
 Speed of processing and determination of applications  

2.20  The Licensing Service ensures effective consultation on all applications 

received and is focused on determining applications within the legislative 

deadlines. All applications were determined within the deadlines over the 

period.   

2.21 Mid Devon do not offer a pre-application advice service, but we are 

experiencing a proportionality high number of applicants requiring support and 

guidance when dealing with applications. This can create delays and 

frustrations for applicants. Applicants can seek out independent legal advice 

prior to completion and submission of an application under the Licencing Act 

2003.  

2.22 To better support applicants and ensure consistency we are drafting a guidance 

document that will be made available on our website, with FAQs and common 

mistakes to avoid. 

  
 Staffing update  

2.23 Following a review of the team structure earlier in 2025/26, changes have been 

approved and made to introduce the following posts. Senior Officer (Licensing), 

Regulatory Officer (Licensing), Regulatory Officer (Animal Welfare). The 

Specialist Officer (Licensing) post has now been deleted.  

2.24 A successful recruitment process in August 2025, resulted in a Regulatory 

Officer (Licensing) starting in post during September 2025.  

2.25 The remaining posts will be advertised during Quarter 3, once internal 

processes have concluded.  

2.26 During Quarter 1 and 2, whilst carrying vacant officer posts, we have been 

supported by a part time Licensing contractor to ensure that we were able to 

carry out our statutory functions. This has supported routine applications and 

notifications work alongside the delivery of additional premises visits as set out 

in paragraph 2.18-19.  

 
3  Hearings, Appeals and Enforcement 

 Hearings 

Page 13



3.1 There were four sub-committee hearings during the first half of 2025/26.  This 

is equal the number of hearings conducted during the whole of 2024/25 and 

therefore represents a significant uplift in activity for the licensing officers. 

3.2 Hearing 1 was to consider a new premises licence application for Re-fuel 

Southwest Ltd. The application was granted as applied for.  

3.3 Hearing 2 was to consider new application for Shobrooke Park. The licence 

was granted subject to amendments. Following a site visit by the Sub-

Committee, Legal services, and Licensing, amended conditions were agreed. 

This was a good example of the Sub-Committee making use of the 5 days they 

have to make a decision. The additional time meant a visit could be undertaken 

to the site and the conditions could be carefully considered.  

3.4 Hearing 3 was to consider new application for Spar Tiverton. The licence was 

granted with an additional condition following the hearing.  

3.5 Hearing 4 was to consider new application for Lakemoor. The licence was 

granted as applied for.  

  
Appeals 

3.6 The decision to grant the licence for Re-fuel Southwest Ltd was appealed by 

an interested party who made representations during the process.  

3.7 Ongoing work and mediation between Licensing, Legal services, the Licence 

holders and appellant, resulted in an agreement being reached prior to the 

hearing date.  

3.8 Changes were agreed to the licensable area. This was formalised through the 

Magistrates order and costs awarded to Mid Devon District Council.  

   
Enforcement  

3.9  No other formal enforcement action was recorded during the first half of 

2025/26. Officers apply a graduated approach to enforcement, initially working 

to resolve issues of non-compliance informally as set out in the Council’s 

adopted Enforcement Policy.  

 
4 Legislative and Policy updates 

 Reforming the licensing system – Government call for evidence 

4.1 The Government has outlined licensing reform, and through The Industrial 

Strategy, a 10-year plan to increase business investment and grow the 

industries of the future in the UK. 

4.2 The Government has set out proposals to working with “industry and local 

authorities on delivering changes to the licensing system that support the 

growth of the creative and hospitality sectors, including live music. The 

Page 14

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/the-uks-modern-industrial-strategy-2025
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/the-uks-modern-industrial-strategy-2025


government has established a licensing taskforce, which will soon publish its 

recommendations for making improvements to the licensing system.” 

4.3 The Government is now seeking views and evidence to inform the development 

of a modern, proportionate and enabling licensing system. This call for evidence 

builds on the Licensing Taskforce recommendations and the government’s 

response and supports the government’s commitment to reduce regulatory 

burdens by 25% by the end of this Parliament. 

4.4 This call for evidence focuses on the ‘on trade’ in relation to alcohol sales, for 

example pubs, restaurants and nightclubs, and on all entertainment licensed 

under the Licensing Act 2003. 

4.5 Further updates will be provided to the Committee once the Government has 

published its recommendations. 

  
Martyn’s Law  

4.6 The Home Office has released new guidance materials to support public 

understanding of the Terrorism (Protection of Premises) Act 2025—commonly 

known as Martyn’s Law—by publishing a myth buster and a one-page leaflet 

aimed at clarifying the scope of the Act and dispelling common misconceptions. 

4.7 Martyn’s Law, named in memory of Martyn Hett—one of the 22 victims of the 

2017 Manchester Arena attack—received Royal Assent in April 2025, with an 

implementation period of at least 24 months. The legislation mandates that 

certain public venues and events implement proportionate security measures 

to better protect the public in the event of a terrorist attack.  

4.8 This legislation represents a key part of the Government’s statutory response 

to the ‘protect and prepare’ element of the national CONTEST counter-terrorism 

strategy published in 2023. It requires relevant premises to have plans in place 

to ensure steps have been taken to prepare for potential terrorist attacks and 

get ready to help keep people safe in the event of an attack. In addition, certain 

larger premises and events (so called ‘enhanced tier’) will be required to 

consider and, where appropriate, take steps to reduce their vulnerability to acts 

of terrorism. 

4.9 The newly issued myth buster addresses widespread misunderstandings about 

the law, including the role of third-party providers and the nature of compliance 

requirements. It encourages organisations to focus on effective, practical 

security planning rather than outsourcing unnecessarily. The accompanying 

leaflet outlines key elements of the Act, including who is responsible for 

compliance, what premises are in scope, and the role of the regulator. 

4.10 These documents, which can be downloaded from the ProtectUK website, are 

part of the Government’s broader effort to raise awareness and prepare 

stakeholders ahead of the Act’s implementation. The implementation period 

allows time for statutory guidance to be published and for affected organisations 

to understand and meet their obligations. 

Page 15

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/licensing-taskforce-report-and-government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/licensing-taskforce-report-and-government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-new-approach-to-ensure-regulators-and-regulation-support-growth/new-approach-to-ensure-regulators-and-regulation-support-growth-html
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-new-approach-to-ensure-regulators-and-regulation-support-growth/new-approach-to-ensure-regulators-and-regulation-support-growth-html
https://www.protectuk.police.uk/news-views/download-new-martyns-law-myth-buster


4.11 Local Authorities will not be the regulator for Martyn’s Law. This role has been 

given to the Security Industry Authority (SIA). The SIA will be expanded in due 

course to provide both guidance and support whilst also enforcing against the 

legislative requirements. 

4.12 As a public body, the Council has several venues including Phoenix House, our 

Leisure Centres and the Pannier Market that will meet either the standard or 

enhanced tier requirements within the Act, based on possible occupancy 

thresholds. To this end, the Corporate Management Team are leading on 

corporate compliance, and a small project team is under development to take 

forward the development of relevant plans for our premises within scope. 

4.13 We can expect a number of local private businesses and community 

organisations with public venues also to come within the scope of the legislation 

which may include premises licensed by the Council. As such the licensing 

team will play a role in signposting licence holder to advice and guidance. 

  
ACT for Local Authorities 

4.14 The National Counter Terrorism Security Office (NaCTSO), in collaboration with 

Counter Terrorism Policing (CTP), has officially launched ACT for Local 

Authorities. This new initiative is aimed at enhancing protective security and 

preparedness across public spaces managed or influenced by UK councils. It 

was launched on 30 September 2025 at the International Security Expo, 

marking a further significant development under the CONTEST strategy. 

4.15 While separate from the statutory Terrorism (Protection of Premises) Act 2025 

requirement, ACT for Local Authorities is non-statutory but complements the 

legislation by focusing on public spaces without events or qualifying activities, 

ensuring comprehensive consideration of terrorism-related risks 

4.16 ACT for Local Authorities provides targeted guidance and support to help 

councils assess and mitigate terrorism-related risks in their jurisdictions. The 

initiative identifies five priority areas of local authority business where counter-

terrorism measures can be most effectively implemented. These areas are 

Licensing together with Community safety, Planning and development, 

Transport and Emergency Planning. 

4.17 The program offers direct access to regional Counter Terrorism Security 

Advisers (CTSAs), enabling local authorities to receive expert advice tailored 

to their operational environments. It also includes a suite of resources designed 

to improve risk assessment capabilities and promote proportionate security 

measures without imposing undue burdens on council operations. 

4.18  There is likely to be a level of regional, cross-boundary work on ACT across 

local authorities to complement with the CTSA regional network. This will be 

explored across relevant organisations and corporate/service leads and the 

Corporate Performance and Improvement Manager in due course. Where 

specific risks and mitigations are identified locally then these will be reviewed 

Page 16

https://www.protectuk.police.uk/news-views/counter-terrorism-policing-launches-act-local-authorities-international-security-expo
https://www.protectuk.police.uk/news-views/counter-terrorism-policing-launches-act-local-authorities-international-security-expo


further once the guidance, advice and potential implementation mechanisms 

and resources have been considered further. This work may include a future 

role for local SAGs in this context. 

 Government launches consultation on Category D gaming machines and 

licensing for bingo premises 

4.19 The Department for Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) has opened a 

consultation seeking views on two key areas of gambling regulation: the use of 

Category D gaming machines and the licensing framework for bingo premises. 

4.20 Category D machines are the lowest-stakes gaming machines permitted in the 

UK, commonly found in arcades, family entertainment centres, and some pubs. 

These include coin pushers, crane grabs, and low-stake fruit machines. 

Currently, these machines can be made available without a licence or permit in 

certain settings, a policy originally intended to support low-risk entertainment. 

However, the Government is now questioning whether this exemption remains 

appropriate, particularly in light of concerns about underage access and the 

evolving gambling environment. 

4.21 The consultation proposes two options: either maintaining the current 

exemption for Category D machines or removing it, which would require all 

operators to obtain a permit or licence. The government is particularly 

interested in whether the exemption still serves its intended purpose and 

whether it creates inconsistencies in regulatory oversight. 

4.22 The second focus of the consultation is the licensing of bingo premises. Under 

current law, a premises licence is required to offer bingo, but the definition of 

what constitutes “bingo” has evolved over time. The Government is considering 

whether the current licensing framework is sufficiently clear and proportionate, 

especially for low-stakes or community-based bingo activities. It is also 

exploring whether the current rules may be creating unnecessary burdens for 

small operators or community groups. 

4.23 Stakeholders, including operators, local authorities, and the public, are invited 

to respond to the consultation, which will remain open until 4 December 2025. 

The Government is particularly seeking evidence on the impact of the current 

rules, the potential effects of any changes, and views on how best to balance 

consumer protection with regulatory proportionality. 

4.24 This consultation follows a series of other gambling-related reforms announced 

in the Gambling White Paper, including proposals to strengthen online gambling 

protections, modernise land-based gambling rules, and improve oversight of 

gambling advertising and sponsorship. 

4.25  As details emerge about these proposed reforms including any legislative and 

statutory guidance changes then further updates will be provided to the 

Page 17



committee in due course. These may include formal updates to local licensing 

policy as required. 

 Government seeks evidence to shape new tobacco and vapes regulations 

4.26 The UK Government has launched a call for evidence to inform secondary 

legislation supporting the Tobacco and Vapes Bill, seeking expert views on new 

rules for retailers selling tobacco, vapes and other nicotine products and on 

measures to reduce youth vaping. 

4.27 The call targets technical, operational and enforcement-focused evidence from 

public health experts, industry stakeholders, local authorities and licensing 

bodies to help design detailed regulations under the Bill. 

4.28 A central feature enabled by the Bill is a proposed retail licensing regime for the 

sale of tobacco, vapes and nicotine products. The government has indicated a 

two-tier approach separating a personal licence for individuals from a premises 

licence for retail locations, aimed at ensuring that only responsible retailers and 

staff can sell these products. 

4.29 Licensing authorities would administer applications, renewals, suspensions and 

revocations and could attach conditions to licences. Penalties for unlicensed 

selling or breaches of licence conditions could include fixed penalties and 

higher fines through the courts. The licensing model is intended to deter rogue 

traders, support legitimate businesses that comply with rules, and provide a 

clearer enforcement route for local authorities while leaving scope for devolved 

administrations to adopt compatible or alternative arrangements. 

4.30 Again, further updates will be provided on these changes in due course. 

Financial Implications: All licences for the areas mentioned above have a charge 

associated with them. The income from the licences is used to offset the running of 

the Service. The Service is not self-funding as the Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling 

Act 2005 fees are set at a national level and have not been increased for many years 

therefore do not fully cover costs. Where possible the fee income is used to reduce 

the contribution of the general fund to the running of the Service. 

Legal Implications: There are various regulations that govern the range of 

applications administered by the Licensing Team. These detail a range of duties and 

statutory deadlines, as well as policy and procedural requirements. 

Risk Assessment: Provision of the Licensing Service is a statutory obligation. If 

resources for the service are not available there is a risk that the Council is unable to 

meet its statutory duties in relation to licensed activities. This would put the wellbeing, 

health and safety of residents at risk if they accessed a service that did not meet 

licensing standards, or if we do not have resource to investigate intelligence and 

complaints relating to unlicensed operators. 

Page 18

https://www.gov.uk/government/calls-for-evidence/tobacco-and-vapes-evidence-to-support-legislation/tobacco-and-vapes-evidence-to-support-legislation#licensing
https://instituteoflicensing.org/the-tobacco-and-vapes-bill/


Impact on Climate Change: There is no direct impact on climate change as a result 

of this report. 

Equalities Impact Assessment: An equality impact assessment is not required in 

respect of this update report. 

Relationship to Corporate Plan: This report links directly to the Licensing Authority 
functions of the Council with the primary aim of protecting health, wellbeing and safety 
of residents and licensed service users. It therefore contributes to the priority of 
Community, People & Equalities within the Corporate Plan 2024-2028. 

Section 3 – Statutory Officer sign-off/mandatory checks 

 

Statutory Officer: Andrew Jarrett 

Agreed by or on behalf of the Section 151 Officer 

Date: 20.11.25 

 

Statutory Officer: Maria de Leiburne 

Agreed on behalf of the Monitoring Officer 

Date: 20.11.25 

 

Chief Officer: Stephen Walford 

Agreed by or on behalf of the Chief Executive/Corporate Director 

Date: 20.11.25 

 

Performance and risk: Steve Carr 

Agreed by the Corporate Performance & Improvement Manager 

Date: 06 November 2025 

 

Cabinet member notified: Yes 

 

 

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background Papers 

 

Contact:  

Name:  Harriet Said - Commercial Team Leader, Public Health and Housing 

Options / Simon Newcombe, Head of Housing and Health 

Email:   hsaid@middevon.gov.uk / snewcombe@middevon.gov.uk  

Telephone: 01884 255255 

 

Background papers and resources:  

 

Government launches consultation on Category D gaming machines and licensing for 

bingo premises - Institute of Licensing (IoL) 

 

Government seeks evidence to shape new tobacco and vapes regulations - Institute 

of Licensing (IoL) 

Page 19

mailto:hsaid@middevon.gov.uk
mailto:snewcombe@middevon.gov.uk
https://instituteoflicensing.org/network-news/government-launches-consultation-on-category-d-gaming-machines-and-licensing-for-bingo-premises/
https://instituteoflicensing.org/network-news/government-launches-consultation-on-category-d-gaming-machines-and-licensing-for-bingo-premises/
https://instituteoflicensing.org/network-news/government-seeks-evidence-to-shape-new-tobacco-and-vapes-regulations/
https://instituteoflicensing.org/network-news/government-seeks-evidence-to-shape-new-tobacco-and-vapes-regulations/


 

ProtectUK | Home 

 

Counter-terrorism strategy (CONTEST) 2023 - GOV.UK 

Page 20

https://www.protectuk.police.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/counter-terrorism-strategy-contest-2023

	Agenda
	4 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
	5 LICENSING UPDATE REPORT

